THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSTAION COMMISSION  
APPELLATE PANEL

---

Appellate Case No.:2019-000060  
W.C.C. Case No.: 1715897

---

Matthew Green,

Appellant,

v.

Bishop Forest Products, Inc., Employer, and  
Forestry Mutual Insurance Companies, Carrier,

Respondents.

**RECEIVED**  
MAR 25 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

s/ Andrea C. Roche  
Andrea C. Roche, Esquire  
Mickle & Bass, LLC  
Post Office Box 5639  
Columbia, South Carolina 29250  
(803) 929-0029  
[aroche@mickleandbass.com](mailto:aroche@mickleandbass.com)  
SC Bar No. 7563  
Attorney for Appellant

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission erred in finding the Claimant's accident did not arise out of and in the course and scope of his employment where the Claimant was injured during a trip taken solely for the purpose of delivering paperwork that was of utmost importance to the employer by an employer mandated deadline.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Matthew Green ("the Claimant") filed a claim on October 24, 2017 asserting an injury by accident arising out of and in the course and scope of his employment as a result of a motor vehicle accident on September 13, 2017. The Claimant was returning home after traveling to his place of employment for the sole purpose of delivering paperwork to meet an employer mandated deadline when the accident occurred.

Bishop Forest Products, Inc., ("the Employer"), and Forestry Mutual Insurance Company, the carrier (collectively "the Defendants") denied the claim. A single commissioner heard the claim on February 15, 2018. By order dated May 29, 2018, the single commissioner found the Claimant sustained an injury by accident during the course and scope of his employment and awarded benefits. The Defendants appealed to the full commission.

By order dated December 18, 2018, the full commission, in a 2-1 decision, reversed the finding of the single commissioner and found the actions of the Claimant did not satisfy any exception to the general rule that injuries sustained while in the process of going to or coming from work are not compensable. On January 16, 2019, the Claimant filed a Notice of Appeal with this court.

## FACTS

The facts are largely undisputed. The Claimant worked as a truck driver for the Employer. (Transcript of hearing before the single commissioner, p. 19, 23) He drove loads of chipped wood from logging locations to the paper mill. (Tr. p. 23) The paper mill would weigh his truck and give him a ticket verifying the load. (Tr. p. 24, 43) The Claimant was responsible for collecting these tickets and completing other paperwork related to his employment during the week. (Tr. 23, 25) The paperwork was due in the employer's office by 8:00 am every Wednesday morning. (Tr. p. 54, 61-62) The Claimant's usual habit was to take the paperwork home on Tuesday night, get it in order, and bring it to the office when he reported to work on Wednesday morning. (Tr. p. 26, 31) The Employer's witness testified the claimant had full latitude to handle his paperwork in this way. (Tr. p. 62)

On the day of the accident, the claimant was scheduled to come in late to work, at 11:00 am, due to a personal appointment. (Tr. p. 32) This late start was approved by the employer. (Tr. p. 32) Because his expected time to arrive at work was after the 8:00 am deadline, the claimant traveled in the early morning hours to the employer's office and dropped off the paperwork. (Tr. p. 33) He was returning home when he was struck by another car and injured. (Tr. p. 34)

The paperwork, particularly the tickets, was of utmost importance to the Employer's business. Craig Bishop, the owner of the Employer, testified the timely submission of the tickets was a "most important" part of the Employer's business. (Tr. p. 54) He testified it was a requirement for the drivers to have the tickets turned in by Wednesday morning. (Tr. p. 54, 61-62) Mr. Bishop also testified that the paperwork was so important, if one of his truck drivers was unable to bring it by 8:00 am because of illness or any other reason, he would send someone on a special trip to pick up the paperwork. (Tr. p. 57-58)

The Employer allowed truck drivers to drive their trucks home at night. (Tr. p. 29) The Claimant did not have a place at his house to park a truck, so he used his own car to travel to the employer's office where he would pick up his truck and start the work day. (Tr. p.29-30) The Claimant testified he could have remained in his truck after business hours on Tuesday night and completed his paperwork and turned it in Tuesday night. (Tr. p. 44)

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“The Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) provides the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Commission.” Burnette v. City of Greenville, 401 S.C. 417, 426, 737 S.E.2d 200, 205 (Ct. App. 2012). This Court can “reverse or modify the decision only if the claimant’s substantial rights have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.” Hutson v. South Carolina State Ports Authority, 399 S.C. 381, 387, 732 S.E.2d 500, 503 (2012).

Because the relevant facts in this case are not disputed, whether the Claimant’s injuries are compensable is a question of law. E.g. Grant v. Grant Textiles, 372 S.C. 196, 201, 641 S.E.2d 869, 872 (2007) (holding that where there are no disputed facts, the question of whether an accident is compensable is a question of law).

The South Carolina Worker’s Compensation Act is to be liberally construed to include injured workers rather than exclude them from the Act. Moore v. Family Serv. of Charleston Cty., 269 S.C. 275, 281, 237 S.E.2d 84, 87 (1977) (citations omitted).

## ARGUMENT

THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THE CLAIMANT'S ACCIDENT DID NOT ARISE OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT WHERE THE CLAIMANT WAS INJURED DURING A TRIP SOLELY FOR THE PURPOSE OF DELIVERING PAPERWORK THAT WAS OF UTMOST IMPORTANCE TO THE EMPLOYER BY AN EMPLOYER MANDATED DEADLINE.

Because the Claimant's employment was the proximate cause of his accident and resulting injuries, the Claimant is entitled to benefits under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act ("the Act"). Generally, injuries that occur either coming from or going to work are not compensable under the Act. The courts have reasoned that "an employee going to or coming from the place where his work is to be performed, is not engaged in performing any service growing out of and incidental to his employment; and therefore an injury suffered by accident at such time does not arise out of and in the course of his employment." Eargle v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Co., 205 S.C. 423, 32 S.E.2d 240, 243 (1944).

There are exceptions to the general rule, however, and this court has recognized "that no exact formula can be laid down which will automatically solve every case" and that a determination is "built on a common framework designed to compensate employees when their employment proximately causes their injuries." Stough v. Westinghouse Savannah River Co., 311 S.C. 129, 131, 427 S.E.2d 716, 717 (Ct. App. 1993)(citations omitted). Exceptions to the general going and coming rule include the special errand rule, the duty or task exception, and the dual-purpose doctrine. Id., see also Whitworth v. Window World, Inc., 377 S.C. 637, 661 S.E.2d 333 (2008).

In Bickley v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Co., 259 S.C. 463, 192 S.E.2d 866 (1972), the court, quoting North Carolina courts, defined the special errand rule:

[a]n exception to the aforesaid general rule is found in cases where it is shown that the employee, although not at his regular place of employment, even before or after customary working hours, is doing, is on his way home after performing, or on the way from his home to perform, some special service or errand or the discharge of some duty incidental to the nature of his employment in the interest of, or under direction of, his employer. In such cases, an injury arising en route from the home to the place where the work is performed, or from the place of performance of the work to the home, is considered as arising out of and in the course of the employment.

Id. at 470, 192 S.E.2d at 870.

The duty or task exception applies if “the employee, on his way to or from his work, is still charged with some duty or task in connection with his employment.” Stough, 311 S.C. at 130, 427 S.E.2d at 717; see also Whitworth v. Window World, Inc., 377 S.C. 637, 661 S.E.2d 333 (2008).

Furthermore, in Stough, this court discussed the dual-purpose doctrine:

an injury incurred during a trip which serves both a business and a personal purpose is within the scope of employment if the trip involves the performance of a service for the employer which would have caused the trip to be taken by someone even if it had not coincided with the personal journey. Stated another way, if the work of the employee necessitates his travel, he is in the course of employment, even though he is serving at the same time some purpose of his own.

Id. at 130–31, 427 S.E.2d 717 (citations omitted).

The Claimant’s trip to deliver his paperwork before the 8:00 am deadline squarely falls under the special errand exception. The Claimant was outside his normal working hours on his way home from delivering required paperwork that was “incidental to the nature of his employment” and “in the interest of . . . his employer.” It is undisputed that the only reason the Claimant made the trip was to deliver the paperwork to his employer before the deadline. Furthermore, if the Claimant had been unable to deliver the paperwork for some reason, the Employer would have arranged for someone to make a special trip to retrieve it. See Stough v. Westinghouse Savannah River Co., 311 S.C. 129, 427 S.E.2d 716 (Ct. App. 1993) (finding a

special errand because “[the employer] would have had to arrange to send the documents via some other person or method had [the claimant] not planned to take them.”)

In denying the claim, the commission relied heavily on Sylvan v. Sylvan Bros., 225 S.C. 429, 434, 82 S.E.2d 794, 796 (1954). Sylvan, however, is distinguishable from the case at bar. In Sylvan, the claimant was in the habit of taking paperwork home with him in the evenings. He would normally perform work at home and bring the paperwork back the next day. He was on his way to work—to start the work day—when he was injured with the paperwork in his pocket. The court held the claimant was “simply on his way to work and not on an errand for his employer, either to transport the papers or otherwise,” and that “he would have attempted to go to [work] that morning as he always did, papers or no papers.” Id. at 434, 82 S.E.2d at 796.

The Claimant, unlike the claimant in Sylvan, was not on his way to start the work day. He was on an errand for his employer to transport the paperwork and would not have gone to his place of employment had he not had a deadline to meet. If the Claimant had been injured while traveling to work to start the work day on a typical Wednesday with his paperwork in his car, the case would clearly mirror the facts in Sylvan. If Mr. Sylvan, on a day or at an hour he was not scheduled to work, ran documents to the store because they were needed at a certain time, his trip would surely fall under the special errand exception, even if he originally took the paperwork home with him for his convenience.

The commission found that because it was for the claimant’s convenience that he carried his paperwork home, he was excluded from the Act. The proper focus is on the trip itself and not why the paperwork was with the Claimant. It was the trip itself that was special. The trip was not a habit and was not convenient for the Claimant. He had to make a special trip at a time he was not scheduled to work to make sure the paperwork was in the office on time. The trip was not

made for the Claimant's convenience. If it were not for the deadline, the Claimant could have brought the documents with him when he came to work at 11:00 am that day. That would have been for the "convenience" of the Claimant.

Even if the trip had somehow been for the claimant's benefit, it also served a business purpose. Therefore, the dual-purpose doctrine would apply. As testified to by the Employer, had the Claimant not been able to bring in his paperwork, the Employer would have sent someone to get it. Therefore, the Claimant's "trip involve[d] the performance of a service of the employer which would have caused the trip to be taken by someone even if it had not coincided with the personal journey." Stough v. Westinghouse Savannah River Co., 311 S.C. 129, 131, 427 S.E.2d 716, 717 (Ct. App. 1993).

It stands to reason the Defendants would agree that if the Employer had called the Claimant at home early Wednesday morning and instructed him to bring his paperwork in before 8:00 am, all of the elements of the special errand exception would be met. While direction by the employer can help establish a special errand, it is not a requirement, and the commission erred in holding so. The special errand exception, as defined by our courts, requires the special errand be either "under the direction of," or "in the interest of" the employer. Bickley v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Co. 259 S.C. 463, 192 S.E.2d 866 (1972). The sole purpose of the Claimant's trip was to turn in his "most important" paperwork by the deadline imposed by the Employer and was "in the interest of" the employer.

By the commission's reasoning, if the Claimant had a family emergency that required him to be somewhere at 11 am on Wednesday, and therefore he made a special trip to bring his paperwork in before the 8:00 am deadline and was injured, the claim would fall outside the scope of the Act. This would be solely because his employer allowed him to take his paperwork home.

Furthermore, if the Claimant had on Tuesday failed to remember his appointment the following day, and, upon realizing it the next morning, made a special trip to deliver the paperwork to his Employer before the deadline, any injury resulting in the journey would not be covered. This reasoning flies in the face of a liberal construction of the Act to include injured workers rather than exclude them from the Act.

The commission erred by finding that because the Claimant could have turned the paperwork in the night before, that fact “eliminate[d] the possibility that Claimant’s trip to and from his home was covered under the ‘special errand’ exception.” By denying the claimant benefits based on what he *should* have done improperly injected fault into a no-fault system. The only requirement from the Employer was that the documents be at the office by 8:00 am Wednesday, and the Claimant made a special trip to deliver them. The commission’s holding is essentially that had the claimant planned better, and did things differently than usual, then he would not have been hurt thus excluding him from the Act. The proper focus is on whether the employment was the proximate cause of the trip, not whether the Claimant should have done things differently.

In sum, the Claimant’s activities on the day in question satisfy the requirements of the special errand doctrine. The Claimant was “on his way home after performing” an “errand . . . incidental to the nature of his employment in the interest of . . . his employer.” Bickley v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Co., 259 S.C. 463, 192 S.E.2d 866 (1972).

Furthermore, the trip made by the claimant satisfies the duty or task exception. During his trip, the Claimant was performing a task in connection with his employment. The commission found the continuing duty rule did not apply because the Claimant had completed his duty and was

already on his way home when the accident occurred. Nothing in the case law supports this interpretation of the continuing duty or task exception.

Finally, the ultimate question is whether the Claimant's employment was the proximate cause of the Claimant's injuries. Had it not been for his employment, the Claimant would not have made the trip and would not have been injured. The Claimant's employment was the proximate cause of his injuries, and the Claimant is entitled to benefits under the Act.

### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse the decision and order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission.

March 25, 2019