THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM
THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Panel Decision

Appellate Case No. 2019-000060

Matthew Green, Appellant,

v.

Bishop Forest Products, Inc., Employer, and Forestry Mutual Insurance
Company, Carrier, Defendants,

Of Which Bishop Forest Products, Inc., is the Respondent.

RECEIVED
JUN 17 2019
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Matthew A. Schonfeld
349 W. Coleman Boulevard, Suite 300
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
(843) 278-0488
Attorney for Respondent
SC Bar No. 0076999

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

ARGUMENT

In order to be a compensable work accident, the injury/injuries must arise out of and in the course of employment. As a general rule, any injuries sustained by an employee while going to or coming from the place where his/her work is to be performed are not compensable as they do not arise out of and in the course of employment.

South Carolina case law has recognized five exceptions that allow employees the possibility of compensation even though the accident in question took place while going to or coming from work: (1) the means of transportation is provided by the employer, or the time that is consumed is paid for or included in the wages; (2) the employee, on his way to or from his work, is still charged with some duty or task in connection with his employment; (3) the way to work is inherently dangerous and is either the exclusive way or is constructed and maintained by the employer; (4) the injury occurred in close proximity to the workplace and there is an express or implied requirement that the employee use that approach in going to and coming from work; and (5) an employee is injured while performing a special task, service, mission, or errand for his employer, even before or after customary working hours, or on a day which he does not ordinarily work. *Medlin v. Upstate Plaster Serv.*, 329 S.C. 92, 495 S.E.2d 447 (1998).

The facts of this claim eliminate exceptions (1), (3), and (4) as referenced above. Respondent's transportation was not provided or paid for by the employer, he was not paid for his travel to deposit the documents, his way to work was not inherently dangerous, and Respondent was not injured in close proximity to his workplace nor was he required to use a certain approach. Therefore, the only exceptions that potentially apply are the "continuing duty" exception and the "special errand" exception. These exceptions do not apply to the facts of this case either; therefore, Respondent's injuries are not compensable under the Act.

THE COMMISSION CORRECTLY DECIDED THAT APPELLANT'S INJURIES DID NOT ARISE OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE OF EMPLOYMENT BECAUSE APPELLANT DID NOT HAVE ANY REMAINING WORK-RELATED DUTIES OR RESPONSIBILITIES WHILE TRAVELING TO HIS HOME IN HIS PERSONAL VEHICLE, AND THE TRIP WAS UNDERTAKEN FOR PERSONAL REASONS.

1. The "Continuing Duty" Exception Does Not Apply Because Respondent Did Not Have Any Remaining Work-Related Duties or Responsibilities While Traveling to His Home in His Personal Vehicle.

The general coming and going rule does not apply if, among other things, the employee, on his way to or from his work, *is still charged* with some duty or task in connection with his employment. *Stough v. Westinghouse Savannah River Co.*, 311 S.C. 129, 130, 427 S.E.2d 716, 717 (S.C. Ct. App. 1993) (emphasis added). Moreover, an injury incurred during a trip which serves both a business and a personal purpose is within the scope of employment if the trip involves the performance of a service for the employer *which would have caused the trip to be taken* by someone even if it had not coincided with the personal journey. *Id.* (citing *Corley v. South Carolina Tax Commission*, 237 S.C. 439, 117 S.E.2d 577 (1960)) (emphasis added). This exception does not apply to the facts of this case because Appellant was not still charged with any work related duties or tasks when he got into the accident, and Appellant's work obligations did not cause the trip to be taken – his personal commitments did.

In *Stough*, the court held that when an employee's primary business responsibility is to deliver documents to an office, he is considered to still be charged with a duty or task connected to his employment while on his way home, *if he has yet to deliver the documents*, and his trip home is located along the route necessary to complete his delivery. *Stough*, at 131, 427 S.E.2d at 717-18.

In *Stough*, the employee lived in Columbia and commuted in his personal car to his main office in North Augusta. *Id.* at 130, 427 S.E.2d at 717. He received no compensation for driving to and from his home and his office in North Augusta. *Id.* One of his primary business responsibilities was to transport business documents from his North Augusta office on a regular basis of once a week to an auxiliary office in Charlotte, NC. *Id.* His travel expenses for these document transport trips were paid for by his employer. *Id.*

The employee's accident occurred during one of these required document transport trips from North Augusta to the Charlotte office. *Id.* at 131, 427 S.E.2d at 717. On the date of the accident, he left his office in North Augusta with the documents and was hit and killed while on his way to stop at home before continuing on to Charlotte the next day. *Id.* at 131, 427 S.E.2d at 717. The Court noted that he would have traveled the same route to Charlotte regardless of whether he stopped in Columbia along the way. *Id.* The court determined that the purpose of his trip from North Augusta to Charlotte was *necessitated* by his work at Westinghouse, and even had he not stopped at home that evening, he would have made the same trip to Charlotte to perform his duties on behalf of Westinghouse. *Id.* at 131, 427 S.E.2d at 718. The critical fact from *Stough* is that the focal job-related task – the delivering of the documents – had yet to be completed when the claimant in that case got in the car accident. Because he had yet to complete his delivery of the documents, his employment duty had yet to cease during his trip home from work, and his resulting death arose out of and in the course of employment. *Id.* at 131, 427 S.E.2d at 718. The corollary to the *Stough* scenario is that if the claimant in that case had already dropped the paperwork off in Charlotte and instead got into a car accident on the return trip to his home in Columbia, the resulting injuries would not have been compensable.

In the facts of the present case, Appellant had *already completed* whatever duty he may have been charged with, i.e. depositing the documents, when his accident occurred. Thus, because Appellant's continued duty was completed when he deposited the paperwork, the duty ceased to exist, and he was not covered by the "continuing duty" exception.

Additionally, the facts of this case establish that Appellant's employment did not require him to make any separate trips related to the delivering of the paperwork, and his employer was not even aware of his practice of taking the paperwork home. On the contrary, the only reason why the paperwork left Respondent's property on Tuesday evenings was because Appellant preferred to take it home and get it in order at his own convenience. Furthermore, Appellant, during oral argument before the Commission, conceded that the trip in question would not have been made at 4:00 AM that morning but for Appellant's preplanned appointment with his attorney. (FC Hr. Tr. pg. 18:21-24).

Indeed, Appellant's injuries were an accident, so there is absolutely no injection of fault into the analysis as suggested by Appellant in his arguments on appeal. However, it was Appellant's decision made out of personal convenience and his personal plans that led to the taking of the trip in question; therefore, he was not covered under the Act at the time the accident happened. Accordingly, the exceptions to the "going to and coming from" rule as discussed in *Stough* do not apply.

2. The "Special Errand" Exception Does Not Apply Because the Facts Do Not Meet the Elements of the Rule.

There is no dispute that Appellant was going home when he got into the car accident, and he had no work-related duties yet to be performed on his way home, so Appellant's primary

argument is that his facts fall under the “special errand” exception to the coming and going rule. Appellant’s reasoning and rationale that the “special errand” rule applies to this claim fully exposes why Appellant’s injuries should not be covered under the Act.

The “special errand” exception overrides the general coming and going rule and brings an injury within the scope of employment if it can be shown that an employee: (1) although not at his regular place of employment; (2) is doing, or is on the way from his home to perform, or *on his way home after performing*; (3) some *special or unusual* service, errand, or discharge of some duty incidental to the nature of his employment; (4) the service or incidental duty is not a *habit* or for the *convenience* of the employee; and (5) is in the interest of, or under the direction of, his employer. *See Moore v. Family Service of Charleston Cnty.*, 269 S.C. 275, 237 S.E.2d 84 (1977); *see, also Bickley v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Co.*, 259 S.C. 463, 192 S.E.2d 866 (1972). Notably, these elements are conjunctive, and all must be met for the exception to apply. This rule, when applicable, protects an employee during both the trip to complete the errand, as well as the return trip after the errand is complete.

In *Bickley*, due to hurricane damage, the powerline worker in that case was requested by his employer to work in Charleston over the weekend, which was outside his normal working area in Columbia and outside his normal working hours. *Id.* at 470, 870. Given these circumstances, the South Carolina Supreme Court found that Bickley was covered under the Act when he was in an accident while on his way home after completing the work in Charleston. *Id.* Notably, there was no personal latitude or personal convenience component to Bickley’s decision to perform work related duties that weekend – he was required to do so as a condition of his employment.

In *Moore*, the Court held that because the employee was performing an unusual service at the behest of her employer, her injuries arose out of and in the course of employment, and thus compensable. Specifically, the employee was *directed* by her supervisor to take home and study four large text books in preparation for a type of family abuse case for which she had no experience. 269 S.C. at 278, 237 S.E.2d at 85-86. On her way to work the following morning, the employee fell down some stairs while carrying the books and sustained an injury. *Id.* at 277, 237 S.E.2d at 85. It was undisputed that the *books* were the cause of her fall. *Id.* The court noted the *most important* evidence was the testimony of the employer that it was “not a habit for [employees] to take books and files home and that this was an unusual case and [the employer] requested the claimant to take home the books.” *Id.* at 278, 237 S.E.2d at 86.

In arriving at its decision, the Court in *Moore* distinguished the employee’s compensable injury and factual scenario from the non-compensable injury and factual scenario in *Sylvan v. Sylvan Bros.*, 225 S.C. 429, 82 S.E.2d 794 (1954). *Id.* at 279, 237 S.E.2d at 86. In doing so, the Court clarified further that if an employee is “in the *habit* of doing ‘paperwork’” outside of regular work hours, or is doing it for “[the employee’s] own *convenience*,” the employee’s actions do not qualify for the protections afforded by the “special errand” rule. *Id.*

In *Sylvan*, the Court held that if a journey would be made to work, irrespective of homework from the night before, the journey is not in the course of employment. *Sylvan*, 225 S.C. 429, 82 S.E.2d 794 (1954). In *Sylvan*, the claimant was injured when he slipped on ice while on his walk from home to work. *Id.* at 433, 82 S.E.2d at 795. He was in the *habit* of doing paperwork at night, and at the time of his injury, he had business papers in his pocket which he had been working on at home the night before. *Id.* He testified that he was unable to do certain paperwork

during regular business hours because of interruptions from customers, “but no reason is suggested why he could not have remained in the privacy of the store after closing hour.” *Id.* at 433-34, 82 S.E.2d at 795-96. The court reasoned that therefore the taking of the paperwork home was for his own *convenience*, and the fact that he had paperwork on him when he was injured does not convert his trip to work to within the course of employment. *Id.*

Similar to the employee in *Sylvan*, Appellant admitted under oath, on multiple occasions, that he was in the *habit* of doing paperwork outside of his normal business hours, as opposed to being told to do so. Additionally, like the employee in *Sylvan*, Appellant took his paperwork home the night before for his own *convenience* so that instead of having to sit in his truck and do the paperwork before departing the company’s premises, Appellant would review his timesheets, load sheets, and pre-inspection checklists in the comfort of his own home.

The record makes clear that Appellant was not performing a “special errand” for Bishop Forest Products when he delivered his paperwork to the company office on the morning of September 13, 2017. Unlike the employers in *Bickley* and *Moore*, neither the owner nor any supervisor for Respondent directed Appellant to take his paperwork home the night before his accident, or any night for that matter. The evidence furthermore reinforces this fact when Appellant testified that none of the management with Respondent were even aware he took his paperwork home the night before the accident, much less that he took his paperwork home every night.

Although Respondent did not prohibit Appellant from taking his paperwork home, having the latitude to do something is not the equivalent of being directed to do something as demonstrated in *Sylvan*. The Respondent’s owner did not know Appellant took the paperwork home with him. Unlike the circumstances in *Bickley* and *Moore*, Appellant here made the choice to take the

paperwork home, and he was not directed to do so nor did the terms of his employment require him to do so. Appellant had an identifiable timeframe for completing job related tasks, but he was not directed to perform work at a time and place other than at Respondent's premises or while operating one of Respondent's trucks.

The evidence also establishes that Appellant would normally arrive at Respondent's place of business between 6:00 am -7:00 am, and he normally would return from his last haul between 5:00 pm and 6:00 pm. These normal working hours fall within the timeframe allotted to turn in the paperwork. Accordingly, there was no requirement that Appellant perform any work-related responsibilities outside of normal working hours.

The fundamental fact that existed in the "special errand" exception cases of *Bickley* and *Moore*, which does not exist within the facts of this claim, is that the employees in those cases were required by their employers, either by pre-established terms of employment or direct instruction, to go outside their normal routine and engage in work-related activity that was "unusual" or "special," thereby covering them under the Act despite the fact they were in the process of going to or coming from work at the time they were injured.

Here, the timing of Appellant's trip to and from work the morning of the accident was entirely personal to him and done for his own convenience. Relevant portions of the hearing transcript are as follows:

Q: All right. And on your return trip back, you didn't have that paperwork with you anymore, correct?

A: Correct.

Q: 'Cause it was already at Bishop Forest Products. And your plans at that point were to go back home, correct?

A: Correct.

Q: And then the next event you had that day was an appointment with your attorney, correct?

A: Yes.

Q: Now your normal routine, had you not had the appointment, would have been to drive to work, park your own personal vehicle, put the paperwork in the slot and get in the truck and clock in, correct?

A: Correct.

Q: That was your normal routine. But you didn't follow your normal routine that morning, did you?

A: No.

Q: Because you had an appointment with your attorney, correct?

A: Correct.

Q: Which was a personal appointment, correct?

A: Correct.

(R.p. 169, line 3–p. 170, line 3).

Under *Bickley* and *Moore*, being authorized or allowed by your employer to change your schedule for a personal reason is not what expands the scope of coverage under the Act and creates a “special” or “unusual” condition that amounts to a “special errand.” The underpinning of these cases is that the origin of the “special” or “unusual” condition needs to come from the employer or the terms of employment in order for the “special errand” exception to apply. Put another way, the employee’s needs do not create a “special errand.” As the examples in the case law reveal, it is the instructions of the employer or obligations of employment that creates the “special errand” exception to the general rule.

In this case, the trip taken the morning of the accident could not have been a “special errand” as the timing of the trip was chosen by Appellant at a time convenient for him because he had an appointment with his lawyer later that morning. Appellant conceded during the hearing

that he could have completed the paperwork the night before the accident and turned it in before leaving his employer's premises, which would have completely eliminated the need for the fateful trip in the first place. (R.p. 168, lines 7-18). This fact, in and of itself, eliminates the possibility that Appellant's trip to and from his home was covered under the "special errand" exception, because unlike the employees in *Bickley* and *Moore*, Appellant was neither instructed, nor did the terms of his employment require him, to take the paperwork home or take the trip when he took it.